SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,555

ANTHONY	STEVEN	FRIDOVICH,
	Petit	cioner,)
v.)
EDWARD	FRIDOVI	CH,)
	Respo	ondent.)
		1

FILED
SID I WHITE

1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clork

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Respectfully submitted,

See Notice Faddress Change of address

Jeffrey D. Fisher
Florida Bar No. 326941
Counsel for petitioner
Anthony Steven Fridovich
175 Bradley Place
Palm Beach, Florida 33480
(407) 659-5311
820-9444

and

Scott Trell Florida Bar No. 838799 Co-counsel for petitioner 11 Edgewater Drive, No. 1 Miami, Florida 33133

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction

The factual allegations of Edward Fridovich's third amended complaint are quoted verbatim in the fourth district's opinion below. Therefore, the statement of facts shall be brief. The court is also invited to examine the three reported decisions on Edward Fridovich's criminal trials. See Fridovich v. State, 562 So.2d 328 (Fla. 1990); Fridovich v. State, 537 So.2d 648 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Fridovich v. State, 489 So.2d 143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), review denied, 496 So.2d 142 and 500 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1986).

B. Facts

On December 4, 1981, Edward Fridovich shot his father, Martin Fridovich, in the head with a shotgun. Local law enforcement agencies investigated the shooting, concluded that it was an accident and closed their investigation.

Several months later, some of the defendants below, allegedly at petitioner's behest, went to the police and the state attorney's office with evidence that Edward had intentionally killed Martin Fridovich. Acting on this information, the investigation was reopened. Ultimately, the police and the Broward State Attorney's office found these accounts credible and obtained an indictment against Edward Fridovich for the first degree murder of his father.

Edward Fridovich was tried and convicted of manslaughter on the indictment, but the fourth district reversed his conviction because potentially exculpatory evidence was excluded at trial. Fridovich v. State, 489 So.2d 143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Between the first and second trials, Edward's sister, Erica, recanted her testimony. Erica claimed her testimony was the product of coercion and part of a conspiracy orchestrated by petitioner to have Edward convicted of murder. The purported motive for the conspiracy was to disinherit Edward and remove him as personal representative of Martin Fridovich's estate. In spite of the recanted testimony, on retrial, Edward was again convicted of manslaughter in the shooting death of his father. The fourth district affirmed the conviction, but certified a question to this court regarding whether the statute of limitations had run. Fridovich v. State, 537 So.2d 648 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). This court affirmed Edward's conviction. Fridovich v. State, 562 So.2d 328 (Fla. 1990).

C. Procedural History

The original civil complaint was filed in Broward County Circuit Court on February 2, 1988 (R.1). On March 25, 1988, the first amended complaint was served, which complaint contained four (4) counts encaptioned as follows:

- I. Civil Conspiracy;
- II. Libel and Slander;

 $^{^{\}mbox{\scriptsize 1}}$ Citations to the record on appeal will be designated as "R."

III. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress;

IV. Punitive Damages

(R. 10-16).² Essentially, respondent plead that his manslaughter conviction exonerated him from the allegation he murdered his father. Respondent asserted that the conduct of petitioner and the other defendants below in, <u>inter alia</u>, accusing respondent of murder to law enforcement authorities, was tortious and actionable.

Petitioner moved to dismiss the amended complaint on numerous grounds, which motion was granted by the Honorable Estella May Moriarty during a hearing held on March 13, 1988. (R. 32-34). The court's order granted respondent twenty (20) days to file his second amended complaint (R. 38).

Respondent's second amended complaint was filed on April 3, 1989. This complaint contained six (6) counts encaptioned as follows:

- I. Defamation;
- II. Conspiracy to Commit Defamation;
- III. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress;
- IV. Conspiracy to Intentionally Inflict Emotional Distress;

For reasons that are unclear from the record, petitioner was never served with the original complaint. The amended complaint was served on him nine (9) months after it was filed, in or about December, 1988.

- V. Malicious Prosecution; and
- VI. Conspiracy to Effect a Malicious Prosecution.

(R. 39-45). In response to the second amended complaint, petitioner once again moved to dismiss on numerous grounds. (R. 49-51). On April 25, 1989, an order was entered dismissing with prejudice the malicious prosecution counts (V and VI) and dismissing the remainder of the complaint with leave to amend. (R. 53).

Edward's third amended complaint was filed May 10, 1989 containing four (4) counts:

- I. Defamation:
- II. Conspiracy to Commit Defamation;
- III. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress;
 and
- IV. Conspiracy to Intentionally Inflict Emotional Distress.

(R. 54-64). Petitioner's motion to dismiss the third amended complaint was substantially identical to the previously filed motions to dismiss directed to these counts. (R. 65-67). After an extensive hearing on June 7, 1989, the court dismissed the third amended complaint with prejudice and without leave to amend. (R. 72).

On appeal, the fourth district affirmed the dismissal with prejudice of the malicious prosecution claim and the

defamation claim (with one small exception not relevant here). Dismissal of the defamation count was affirmed based on a finding that the statements made to law enforcement authorities were absolutely privileged. The fourth district certified to this court a question of great public importance as follows:

Are statements made by a private individual to an investigating officer or a prosecutor preliminary to the filing of a criminal charge absolutely privileged so as to avoid liability for defamation even when the statements are false and made with actual malice?

The fourth district reversed the dismissal of the intentional infliction claim and remanded it to circuit court.

Petitioner moved for rehearing, rehearing <u>en banc</u> and certification of the question of whether the absolute privilege in defamation actions also applies to intentional infliction claims. The fourth district denied these motions. After respondent announced his intention not to seek review in this court of the dismissal of the defamation and malicious prosecution claims, petitioner invoked the court's jurisdiction.

II

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This court should exercise its discretion to decide this appeal. The certified question presents a matter of great public importance about which the district courts of appeal disagree.

This court's precedent, public policy and scholarly commentary all support application of an absolute privilege. This court has recognized an absolute privilege where communications to law enforcement officials were made in the course of justice. There is no more important step in the criminal justice system than the citizen's initial complaint. Without an absolute privilege, law enforcement activities will suffer as citizen cooperation will be chilled.

Application of the same privilege to intentional infliction claims is especially warranted where the claim arises out of the publication of allegedly defamatory statements. Refusal to apply the privilege to intentional infliction claims will eviscerate the privilege in defamation actions, because plaintiffs can easily plead their case to avoid the privilege. The overwhelming weight of authority supports application of the same privilege to both torts.

ARGUMENT

A. The Court Should Exercise Its Jurisdiction To Review The Fourth District's Decision

Petitioner has invoked this court's jurisdiction on three (3) separate grounds:

- The fourth district's opinion certified a question of great public importance to this court;
- 2. The fourth district's application of an absolute privilege to statements made to law enforcement authorities preliminary to the filing of criminal charges conflicts with decisions of the first and third districts. See Anderson v. Shands, 570 So.2d 1121 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Ridge v. Rademacher, 402 So.2d 1312 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); and
- 3. The fourth district's recognition of an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim based on allegedly defamatory statements that are privileged, conflicts with decisions of the fifth district. See Boyles v. Mid-Florida Television Corp., 431 So.2d 627 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) aff'd. 467 So.2d 282 (Fla. 1985); Ford v. Rowland, 562 So.2d 731 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). See also, Southland Corp. v. Bartach, 522 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); rev. dismissed, 531 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1988).

There are multiple, compelling reasons for the court to exercise its jurisdiction to review the fourth district's decision. The court should answer the fourth district's certified question in the affirmative and resolve the conflict between the districts on

the absolute privilege issue. A ruling by this court will have the salutary effect of promoting uniformity of decisions throughout the state. An individual's exposure to tort liability for statements made to law enforcement authorities prior to the filing of criminal charges should not depend on which judicial district has jurisdiction. More importantly, this court's ruling will settle the issue of whether such statements, as a matter of public policy, are protected regardless of motive. Resolution of this question of great public importance will undoubtedly impact on the public's participation in law enforcement activities.

Similar considerations warrant review of the fourth district's refusal to apply the privilege governing defamation claims to claims of intentional infliction of emotional distress. The fourth district's decision undermines the privilege's protection and thereby erodes its public policy objectives. The decision elevates form over substance by exposing individuals to liability for intentional infliction of emotional distress when the conduct giving rise to the claim is nothing more than publication of allegedly defamatory words of a privileged nature. The fourth district's inconsistent application of the privilege doctrine to different torts will chill law enforcement activities.

Finally, the court should exercise its jurisdiction to terminate the efforts of a felon to collaterally attack in a civil proceeding the factual basis for his conviction. According to the decisional law of this court and the district court of appeal, respondent received a fair trial. Nevertheless, this twice

convicted killer of his father has been afforded an opportunity to seek damages from those who brought his criminal conduct to the attention of law enforcement authorities.³ Florida's long-standing refusal to permit the estoppel doctrine from barring civil proceedings subsequent to a criminal conviction justifies adoption of an absolute privilege standard.⁴

B. Statements Made to Law Enforcement Authorities Preliminary To The Filing Of Criminal Charges Should Be Absolutely Privileged Regardless Of The Declarant's Motivation

This court's precedent, public policy and scholarly commentary support application of an absolute privilege to the conduct at issue in this case. Absent extensive protection from the threat of lawsuits, public participation in the criminal justice system will be discouraged.

The fourth district's ruling that an absolute privilege protects statements made to the police and the state attorney's office rested on this court's decision in Robertson v. Industrial

Put another way, respondent alleges that but for the defendants' conduct, he would neither have been arrested nor tried and convicted. This allegation is presumed true for the purpose of a motion to dismiss. This court should invoke its discretionary jurisdiction to resolve the issue of whether, as a matter of law and public policy, plaintiffs such as Edward Fridovich should be permitted to sue for damages under these circumstances.

In <u>Trucking Emp. of N. Jersey Welfare v. Romano</u>, 450 So.2d 843 (Fla. 1984), this court refused to allow the use of offensive collateral estoppel in a civil case to establish the facts proven by a criminal conviction.

Insurance Company, 75 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1954). Robertson involved a defamatory letter sent to the insurance commissioner requesting a hearing to determine whether Robertson's license as an insurance agent should be revoked. As a result of the letter, a hearing was convened and Robertson's license was revoked.

Rather than challenge the revocation, Robertson brought an action seeking damages for libel and slander based on the statements contained in the letter to the insurance commissioner, as well as the testimony given at the hearing. The trial court dismissed the action, finding that an absolute privilege applied to both the statements in the letter, and the testimony given at the hearing.

In affirming the trial court's dismissal, this court acknowledged that "defamatory words published in the course of judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged, if they are relevant and material to the cause or subject of inquiry . . ."

Id. at 199. This court further held that the "privilege . . . arises immediately upon the doing of any act required or permitted by law in the due course of the judicial proceedings or as necessarily preliminary thereto."

Id. citing Ange v. State, 98

Fla. 538, 123 So. 916, 917 (1929) (emphasis in original).

Robertson is premised on sound public policy considerations. Since the judicial process relies heavily on public participation, "[a]ll persons connected with the proceedings [should] be free from fear of being called upon to defend suits arising as a result of derogatory disclosures . . ." Id. at 200.

This court expressed its concern "that to permit such suits would result in a circuitry of actions by which the same issues tried in the judicial proceeding could be retried." Id. "A judgment for the plaintiff would be, in effect, a determination that the insurance commissioner was wrong." Id.

Although the fourth district relied primarily on Robertson, other precedent supports application of an absolute privilege in the instant case. The court's initial recognition of an absolute privilege in defamation actions came in Myers v. Hodges, 53 Fla. 197, 44 So. 357 (1907). In a thorough and scholarly rendition of the history of this area of the law, this court found "the overwhelming weight of authority" supported the rule that "no action is maintainable against a party for words spoken in the course of justice, if they be relevant to the matter in issue." Id. at 360.5

Among the "weighty reasons" for application of the absolute privilege doctrine is "that it is to the interest of the public that great freedom should be allowed in complaints and allegations with a view to have them inquired into . . . " Id. Abuse of the privilege could be punished by contempt of court or, in the case of defamatory words, "wholly and entirely outside of, and having no connection with, the matter of inquiry," a civil action for defamation would then properly lie. Id.

⁵ A close examination of the opinion indicates the words "course of justice" mean words spoken either in a judicial proceeding or preliminary thereto. What could be more important to the "course of justice" than citizens providing information leading to the arrest and conviction of a felon?

This court also considered the issue presented by the instant case in <u>Ange v. State</u>, 98 Fla. 538, 123 So. 916 (1929). In <u>Ange</u>, the defendant published defamatory words of and concerning the plaintiff to the county judge for the purpose of "obtain[ing] a warrant against the party with reference to whom the statement was made." <u>Id</u>. at 917. A portion of the defendant's statement to the judge was heard by the sheriff, who testified against the defendant at trial.

In reversing Ange's conviction for criminal defamation, this court explained that

[t]his rule of privilege as applied to statements made in the course of judicial proceedings is not restricted to trials of actions but includes proceedings before a competent court or magistrate in the due course of law or the administration of justice which is to result in any determinations or action by such court or office.

Id. at 917 (emphasis supplied).6

These decisions, taken together, support the fourth district's application an absolute privilege to the facts of this case. Citizens' complaints to law enforcement authorities prior to the filing of criminal charges are an essential element of the

Again this court noted that an individual unjustly accused was not without a remedy, i.e., malicious prosecution. <u>Id</u>. at 917-18. Of course, Edward could not prevail on a malicious prosecution theory because he was convicted of manslaughter in the death of his father.

administration of justice. Such statements must, as a matter of public policy, be absolutely privileged.

A strong majority of courts have furthered these public policy considerations by recognizing an absolute privilege for statements made preliminary to the filing of a criminal complaint. See Vogel v. Grauz, 110 U.S. 311, 314, 4 S.Ct. 12, 13, 28 L.Ed. 158 (1883) (complaint made by victim of theft to state attorney to instigate prosecution absolutely privileged); General Electric Co. v. Sargent & Lindy, 916 F.2d 1119, 1125-27 (6th Cir. 1990) (collecting cases in civil context); Rauh v. Coyne, 744 F.Supp. 1186, 1193 (D. D.C. 1990) (statements made to the police for the purpose of extorting money held absolutely privileged); Ducosin v. Mott, 292 Ore. 764, 642 P.2d 1168 (1982); Wells v. Toogood, 165 Mich. 677, 131 N.W. 124 (1911); Starnes v. International Harvester Co., 184 Ill. App. 3d 199, 539 N.E. 2d 1372, 1374-75 (Ill. 4th Dist. 1989) (collecting cases); Hott v. Yarbrough, 112 Tex. 179, 245 S.W. 676 (Comm. App. 1922).

The New Hampshire Supreme Court in McGraham v. Dahar, 119 N.H. 743, 408 A.2d 121 (1979) cogently explained the reasons for recognizing an absolute privilege:

The Florida Department of Law Enforcement, in its most recent Uniform Crime Report, states that a basic source of information about crime, is citizen complaints. FDLE, 1989 Uniform Crime Reports for Florida, p.3 (1990).

⁸ In <u>McNayr v. Kelly</u>, 184 So.2d 428, 431 (Fla. 1966), this court noted that it has always followed the majority rule in the area of privilege.

In the context of this case, determination of the scope of the privilege to be recognized requires a balancing of two important principles: the right of an individual to enjoy an unsoiled reputation, and the public interest in free and full disclosure of facts pertinent to judicial proceedings.

Discussions with attorneys and investigating officers, and even the filing of pleadings frequently and necessarily occur at a time when the declarant may not have access to information verifying or disproving statements. The purpose of a judicial proceeding is to test the truth or falsity of allegations of criminal or wrongful conduct. Many of the cases in our courts involve allegations of undesirable conduct by one or more citizens. We cannot envision that these allegations should become the basis defamation action each time the alleged wrongdoer prevails in the first action. Under such a rule, our judicial system would be seriously hampered . . . <u>Id</u>. at (citation omitted) (emphasis supplied).

* * * *

this rule does not assume that all persons who participate are free from malice. Rather, it reflects a determination that the need to protect honest participants is so important that the law will not risk subjecting them to defamation suits merely in order that the occasional malicious participant may be penalized in damages." Id.9

In this case, the action of petitioner and the other defendants below in bringing new information to the attention of

The court later notes that the societal interest in "encouraging citizens to report suspected criminal activity" far outweighs the potential harm to a person's reputation. <u>Id</u>. at 127. Again, the court acknowledges the availability of remedies, both civil and criminal, against persons who give knowingly false information to law enforcement personnel. <u>Id</u>. at 128.

law enforcement authorities, resulted in Edward Fridovich's arrest and conviction. Without this information, a felon would have gone free. There is no step more critical to the investigation and prosecution of crime than the initial complaint to the authorities. Police do not witness most crimes. Law enforcement activities heavily depend on citizen cooperation. Recognition of an absolute privilege is the best way to ensure that citizens will continue to cooperate with law enforcement officials.

There is contrary authority which recognizes the existence of only a qualified privilege. See e.g., Packard v. Central Maine Power Co., 477 A. 2d 264, 268 (Me. 1984); Paramount Supply Co. v. Sherlin Corp., 16 Ohio App. 3d 176, 475 N.E. 2d 197 (Ohio Ct. App. 1984); Crump v. Crump, 393 So.2d 337 (La. Ct. App. 1980). In addition, both the first and third district have held that statements to law enforcement officers are entitled to only a qualified privilege. See Anderson v. Shands, 570 So.2d 1121 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Ridge v. Rademacher, 402 So.2d 1312 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). It is respectfully submitted that these cases were wrongly decided. 10

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