C

B

J. WHITE

22 1991

Chief Deputy Clork

UPREME COURT

SID

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY STEVEN FRIDOVICH, et al.

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO: 77,555

EDWARD FRIDOVICH,

Respondent.



1 2 3 4

## RESPONDENT, EDWARD FRIDOVICH'S ANSWER BRIEF

May 20, 1991

Ronald J. Russo Florida Bar No. 183795 Linda Julin McNamara Florida Bar No. 714887 GLENN, RASMUSSEN, FOGARTY, MERRYDAY & RUSSO Post Office Box 3333 Tampa, Florida 33601 813/229-3333 282-/299

Attorneys for Respondent, Edward Fridovich

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal created an irreconcilable conflict among the District Courts with regard to the law of privilege relating to defamation actions. The Fourth District's opinion ignores established Florida law

-5-

that unsworn statements made to an investigatory officer are not absolutely privileged. Rather, those statements enjoy only a qualified privilege so that a defamation action may be grounded on those statements if the statements were made with actual malice. This law serves the sound policy that, when the criminal penalties for perjury are unavailable to deter malicious and harmful behavior, the law of torts should step in to serve that function and to provide the injured party an opportunity to seek redress for his damages. Therefore, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction to resolve the conflict created by the Fourth District's opinion and should answer the certified question in the negative.

Additionally, the Fourth District Court left open the question of whether any privilege accorded statements for purposes of a defamation claim applies also to other torts, including a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress. The Fourth District Court reversed the trial court's dismissal of Edward's claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, thereby implying that any privilege does not prevent Edward's emotional distress claim. This implication comports with modern law regarding privilege. Because Edward's emotional distress claim is founded on a conspiracy that reaches much farther than the Defendants' institution of judicial proceedings and that is evidenced by facts outside, as well as inside, that proceeding, the Fourth

-6-

District Court correctly reversed the trial court's dismissal of Edward's emotional distress claim.

## I. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE OPINION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

The Fourth District Court of Appeal upheld the trial court's dismissal of Edward's claims for defamation and malicious prosecution and reversed the dismissal of Edward's claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress. Affirming the dismissal of the defamation count, the Fourth District Court held that an absolute privilege protected the statements that Edward's siblings made to the authorities. However, perhaps recognizing that this ruling conflicts with established Florida law, the Fourth District certified to this Court the question of whether statements made to the authorities preliminary to an investigation are absolutely privileged.

This Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict that was created by the Fourth District's opinion. The Fourth District's opinion protects parties who maliciously report intentional falsehoods to authorities and purposefully cause disaster and even death to their victims. This result is directly contrary to the more reasonable result reached by several of Florida's other courts that have held that statements preliminary to an investigation are only qualifiedly privileged--in other words, the statements are privileged if

-7-

they were made without malice. See pp. 8-16, infra.

Moreover, although the Fourth District's opinion presents no conflict with established law regarding intentional infliction of emotional distress, the opinion leaves unanswered the issue of whether an absolute or qualified privilege applies also to the intentional infliction of emotional distress issue. That question was not explicitly addressed by the District Court (although, by reversing the dismissal of the count for intentional infliction of emotional distress, the Fourth District impliedly concluded that any absolute privilege will not bar that claim). This case presents this Court with the opportunity to (1) resolve the certified question and to remove the conflict created by the Fourth District's opinion and (2) determine whether any privilege applicable to a defamation claim applies also to other torts.

## II. UNDER FLORIDA LAW, STATEMENTS MADE TO LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS ARE NOT ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED BUT RATHER ARE MERELY QUALIFIEDLY PRIVILEGED

Unsatisfied with a qualified immunity that would protect him from a defamation action if he acted in good faith, Anthony insists that the Florida courts cloak him with an absolute privilege for uttering false and malicious statements to the police (or causing those statements to be made by others) regarding Edward's state of mind at the time of his father's death. However, the Florida courts have never granted absolute immunity to a defendant accused of the type of

-8-

activity that Edward alleged in the Complaint. Rather, the Florida courts safeguard potential defamation defendants with a qualified privilege that freely allows a party to report suspected or known criminal conduct, so long as the report is made in good faith.

Claiming that several controlling cases were "wrongly decided," Anthony nonchalantly dismisses several cases that are directly relevant to the privilege issue. The most compelling case on this issue is the recent case of <u>Anderson v. Shands</u>, 570 So.2d 1121 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), a case nearly factually identical to this case.

In <u>Anderson</u>, the appellant, who had been convicted of an unspecified offense, sued a prosecution witness, claiming that the witness falsely and maliciously accused the appellant of committing a criminal act. The trial court dismissed the complaint with prejudice. However, the Florida First District Court of Appeal reversed, holding that it was error for the trial court to dismiss the complaint. The court stated:

> As for the statements made during the police investigation which formed the basis of Count I, they are subject to a qualified rather than an absolute privilege. Liability, therefore, depends upon whether actual malice is established.

570 So.2d at 1122 (citation omitted). Thus, the <u>Anderson</u> court recognized that Florida law does not protect defamatory statements made during a police investigation if those statements are made with malice.

-9-

Similarly, in <u>Ridge v. Rademacher</u>, 402 So.2d 1312 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), the Third District Court reversed the dismissal of a slander complaint, succinctly holding:

> [A]n unsworn statement to a municipal police officer in regard to an alleged crime is not accorded an absolute privilege which will bar, as a matter of law, a subsequent action for slander based on such a statement, particularly when it is alleged to have been maliciously made. Such a statement partakes of a qualified privilege and is a mixed question of law and fact, depending on the actual malice established.

402 So.2d at 1312 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Anthony attempts to refute <u>Ridge</u>, by arguing that it conflicts with the earlier Third District case of <u>Buchanan v</u>. <u>Miami Herald Publishing Co.</u>, 206 So.2d 465 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1966) and the later Third District case of <u>Garcia v</u>. <u>Walden Electronics, Inc.</u>, 563 So.2d 723 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). To the extent that <u>Ridge</u> conflicts with the earlier case, <u>Ridge</u>, of course, is controlling because it was decided most recently. However, neither Buchanan nor <u>Garcia</u> is inapposite to <u>Ridge</u>.

In <u>Buchanan</u>, the allegedly defamatory statements were made <u>under oath</u> to a grand jury in connection with that bodies investigation. Therefore, unlike the Defendants in this case (who made their statements in connection with a police non-grand jury investigation), the <u>Buchanan</u> defendant could be subject to the criminal penalties for perjury if he gave false testimony.

In <u>Garcia</u>, the allegedly defamatory statements were made by a former employer to a potential employer, which happened

-10-

to be the Metro-Dade Police Department. The Third District Court affirmed a <u>summary judgment</u>, noting, "Certainly there was no showing of maliciousness to nullify a qualified privilege." 563 So.2d at 725. Thus, <u>Garcia</u> supports Edward's argument that his siblings' statements to the police were only qualifiedly privileged. Although the <u>Garica</u> court ultimately determined that the plaintiff failed to prove malice, the trial court did not dismiss the complaint but rather allowed the plaintiff's defamation charge to stand until the defendant proved he was entitled to summary judgment due to the lack of proof.

Moreover, in Pledger v. Burnup & Sims, Inc., 432 So.2d 1323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), review denied 446 So.2d 99 (Fla. 1984), the court held that statements preliminary to (rather than in the due course of) judicial proceedings are not absolutely privileged. The Pledger court reversed the trial court's dismissal of a cause of action on the basis of absolute privilege, noting that presuit activities are absolutely privileged only when they are necessarily preliminary to judi-Explaining what constitutes "necessarily cial proceedings. preliminary to judicial proceedings," the Pledger court referred to "actions brought under the Florida Tort Claims Act, landlord-tenant actions, certain agricultural claims, various actions brought under the Uniform Commercial Code, insurance claims, and other actions where the parties have agreed to a notice requirement as a condition precedent to suit." 432

-11-

So.2d at 1326 (footnote omitted). These examples all share a requirement, either statutory or contractual, that a party provide certain notice before initiating a judicial proceeding. In this case, there existed no requirement that the petitioners publish the statements that they did as a condition precedent to a judicial proceeding. Indeed, the State had already conducted a complete investigation and concluded that no charges should be brought.

The Complaint filed by Edward does not allege that the defamatory statements were "necessarily preliminary to" or "in the due course of" the judicial proceeding. Indeed, the Complaint alleges just the opposite--that the defendants first uttered their defamatory statements "long after the investigation had been closed" (R 56) and that "Michael Giannoutos's voluntary statements to the authorities, like Erica Fridovich's, were false and were not part of any proceeding or ongoing investigation." (R 57) No absolute privilege appears on the face of the Complaint and the dismissal, premised on absolute privilege, was improper.

At best, the defendants' statements are qualifiedly privileged, which is, of course, an affirmative defense that the Complaint need not anticipate and refute. <u>See Lomelo v.</u> <u>Schultz</u>, 422 So.2d 1050, 1051 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982)("The complaint need not anticipate affirmative defenses.") In any event, a plaintiff may avoid the privilege defense by showing actual malice on the part of the defendants. Edward's Com-

-12-

plaint refuted the existence of a qualified privilege by alleging that the defendants made the statements maliciously.

Anthony fails to cite a single Florida decision that justifies the application of an absolute privilege under the circumstances alleged in Edward's Complaint. Anthony's reliance on <u>Robertson v. Industrial Insurance Co.</u>, 75 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1980), and <u>Myers v. Hodges</u>, 44 So. 357 (Fla. 1907), is sorely misplaced. The issues before this Court in Robertson were,

> [W]hether the proceeding before the Florida Insurance Commissioner was quasi-judicial . . in nature; and if [so], whether or not the rule of absolute privilege . . . as pertaining to judicial proceedings extends to proceedings before an administrative officer when the particular function being performed is quasi-judicial in character.

75 So.2d at 199. The case did not address whether unsworn statements made to the police to induce an investigation are absolutely privileged.

<u>Myers</u> is also inapposite to the instant case. In <u>Myers</u>, the allegedly defamatory statements were made in a complaint filed in the circuit court. The issue addressed by the <u>Myers</u> Court was whether defamatory statements <u>made in a pleading</u> are absolutely privileged. The <u>Myers</u> Court determined that defamatory words made in the due course of a judicial proceeding are absolutely privileged only if the words are relevant or material to the subject of the pleading. Although Anthony suggests that the <u>Myers</u> Court intended this holding to reach statements made during the preliminary investigation of a matter, nothing in <u>Myers</u> intimates that the holding reaches any

-13-

further than statements made in a pleading filed in a court. Indeed, even if the <u>Myers</u> Court had addressed statements made outside a pleading, any such remarks would constitute mere dicta because the only issue before the Court concerned defamatory statements made in a pleading.

Similarly, <u>Ange v. State</u>, 123 So. 916 (Fla. 1929), also relied on by Anthony, concluded that an absolute privilege protects statements made in "proceedings before a competent court or magistrate in the due course of law or the administration of justice which is to result in any determination or action by such court or officer." Of course, Edward did not allege in his Complaint that his siblings' defamatory statements were made in any court or before any magistrate. Rather, Edward claimed that his siblings' statements were made outside the judicial process long after an investigation was concluded.

Lacking any support from the Florida courts for his claim that his and his siblings' defamatory statements were absolutely privileged, Anthony ventures outside the state in an attempt to buttress his argument.<sup>1</sup> To the extent that any of the cases cited by Anthony hold that preliminary statements to investigatory officers are absolutely privileged, those cases

-14-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Anthony also attempts to invoke the sympathy of the Court by repeatedly referring to Edward as his "father's killer." Anthony even claims that Edward was convicted of "intentionally killing his father by proof beyond a reasonable doubt." Of course, Edward was acquitted in his first trial of murder and was convicted only of manslaughter in his second trial, a crime for which no intent is necessary.

directly conflict with governing Florida law as expressed in <u>Ridge v. Rademacher</u> and <u>Anderson v. Shands, supra</u>. On the other hand, many other states, like Florida, have decided not to insulate malicious wrongdoers with an absolute privilege. For example, <u>Grossman v. Fieland</u>, 483 N.Y.S.2d 735, 736 (N.Y. App. Div. 1985), holds:

> Although defendant's statements were qualifiedly privileged, because they were made to district attorneys, a review of the record indicates that plaintiff overcame this privilege by proving that the statements were false, that defendant had knowledge of their falsity, and that defendant was motivated by ill-will toward the plaintiff.

Similarly, Packard v. Central Maine Power Co., 477 A.2d 264,

268 (Me. 1984), holds:

Communications made to law enforcement officials for the purpose of aiding in the detection of crime are privileged if made in the belief, based on reasonable grounds, that they are true.

Paramount Supply Co. v. Sherlin Corp., 16 Ohio App. 3rd 176,

475 N.E.2d 197 (Ohio App. 1984), provides:

Private citizens are qualifiedly privileged to give information to proper governmental authorities for the prevention or detection of crime. <u>Popke v. Hoffman</u>, 1926, 21 Ohio App. 445, 153 N.E. 2d 248; Prosser, <u>Law of</u> <u>Torts</u> (4th Ed. 1971) 791, Section 115; <u>Re-</u> <u>statement of the Law</u>, 2d, Torts (1977) 281, Section 598. In that situation, no recovery can be made for defamation absent a showing that the speaker was moved by actual malice. <u>See also Crump v. Crump</u>, 393 So.2d 337, 339 (La. App. 1980) ("Remarks made in good faith setting forth charges that are well-founded and have firm factual basis are clearly privileged.")

These jurisdictions share the Florida courts' belief that malicious and false statements should not be absolutely protected. This Court first expressed the concept of qualified privilege in <u>Coogler v. Rhodes</u>, 21 So. 109, 112 (Fla. 1897), stating:

> Where a person is so situated that it becomes right, in the interests of society, that he should tell to a third person certain facts, then, if he bona fide, and without malice, does tell them, it is a privileged communication.

The converse is equally true. If a person acts with malice and in a manner that he knows is not bona fide, as Edward has alleged of his siblings, no privilege should inure.

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